Louisiana's Educational Rights of Children with Disabilities

Special Education
Processes + Procedural
Safeguards



STATE BOARD OF ELEMENTARY AND SECONDARY EDUCATION

Mr. Charles E. Roemer President 6th BESE District	Mr. Jay Guillot 5th BESE District
Mr. James D. Garvey, Jr. Vice President 1st BESE District	Ms. Carolyn Hill 8th BESE District
Ms. Holly Boffy Secretary/Treasurer 7th BESE District	Mr. Stephen Waguespack Member-at-Large
Ms. Kira Orange Jones 2nd BESE District	Dr. Judy Miranti Member-at-Large
Dr. Lottie P. Beebe 3rd BESE District	Ms. Connie Bradford Member-at-Large
Mr. Walter Lee 4th BESE District	Ms. Heather Cope Executive Director

For further information, contact:
Louisiana Department of Education
Office of Student Programs
Division of NCLB and IDEA Support
P. O. Box 94064
Baton Rouge, LA 70804
(225) 219-0364

For further information, contact: The mission of the Louisiana Department of Education (LDOE) is to ensure equal access to education and to promote equal excellence throughout the state. The LDOE is committed to providing Equal Employment Opportunities and is committed to ensuring that all of its programs and facilities are accessible to all members of the public. The LDOE does not discriminate on the basis of age, color, disability, national origin, race, religion, sex, or genetic information. Inquiries concerning the LDOE's compliance with Title IX and other civil rights laws may be directed to the Attorney, LDOE, Office of the General Counsel, P.O. Box 94064, Baton Rouge, LA 70804–9064; 877.453.2721 or customerservice@la.gov. Information about the federal civil rights laws that apply to the LDOE and other educational institutions is available on the website for the Office of Civil Rights, USDOE, at http://www.ed.gov/about/offices/list/ocr/.

Table of Contents

Introduction and Purpose	1
Special Education and Related Services	1
Referral for Evaluation	2
Evaluation	2
Eligibility	2
Development of the Individualized Education Program (IEP)	2
IEP Review	4
Reevaluations	4
Definitions and Acronyms	4
Further Information	6
Laws and Regulatory Bulletins	8
Prior Written Notice	8
Parental Consent	9
Independent Educational Evaluation (IEE)	11
Confidentiality of Information	12
Complaint and Dispute Resolution	15
Procedures When Disciplining Children with Disabilities	20
Requirements for Unilateral Placement by Parents of Children in Private Schools at Public Expense	24
LDOE Dispute Resolution Comparison Chart	25

Introduction and Purpose

This guide was developed by the Louisiana Department of Education to help parents navigate the complex system that oversees special education in Louisiana's public schools.

Each school year, local education agencies (LEAs) are required to provide parents a copy of the procedural safeguards. *This handbook is your notice of procedural safeguards*. These safeguards are used to inform parents of the supports, services and protections offered by your local public school district. A copy of the procedural safeguards should be given to you once a year, and:

- · Upon initial referral or at your request for an evaluation
- · When a decision is made to take disciplinary action that results in a change in placement
- The first time you file a state complaint in a school year
- The first time you request a due process hearing in a school year
- When you ask for a copy

Special Education and Related Services

What is special education and what are related services?

According to the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA), the term "special education" means specially designed instruction, at no cost to parents, to meet the unique needs of a child with a disability.

The IDEA defines the term "related services" to mean transportation, and such developmental, corrective, and other supportive services as may be required to assist a child with a disability to benefit from special education. Some other examples of related services are counseling services, interpreting services, physical and occupational therapy, and school health services.

In order to be eligible for special education and related services, students must be evaluated and found eligible for one or more of the following disabilities listed in the IDEA:

- Autism
- Developmental Delay
- Emotional Disturbance
- Hearing Impairment
- Intellectual Disabilities
- Orthopedic Impairment
- Other Health Impairment
- Specific Learning Disability
- Speech or Language Impairment
- Traumatic Brain Injury
- Visual Impairment

What does the special education process look like?

The special education process determines whether or not your child is eligible for special education and related services and if so, which of these are appropriate for your child.

In Louisiana, the special education process consists of:

- Referral
- Evaluation
- Eligibility
- Development of the Individualized Education Program (IEP)
- IEP review
- Reevaluation

Referral for Evaluation

According to the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA), your child's Local Education Agency (LEA) has an obligation called Child Find. Child Find requires LEAs to ensure that all students with disabilities who may be in need of special education and related services are identified, located, and evaluated. Parents and guardians may also request an evaluation to determine if their child is a child with a disability. The LEA can refuse this request but must provide you with a written explanation of the reason the request was denied.

This first evaluation is called an initial evaluation and you, as the parent, must agree to the evaluation in order for your child to participate. If you agree, the evaluation must take place within 60 business days. This initial evaluation determines whether or not your child has a disability and needs special education and related services. It also determines the educational needs of your child. You can refuse the initial evaluation, but you should be aware that the LEA can seek to conduct an evaluation by following the legal procedures described in this guide.

Evaluation

There are specific procedures conducted for all evaluations. Your LEA will provide you with a notice that explains the LEA's evaluation procedures. Although the evaluation procedures may vary from LEA to LEA, each LEA must use a variety of assessment tools and strategies to gather information about your child's needs, including information from you that you think is important to share.

Additionally, the assessment used for evaluation must not be discriminatory and should be provided in your child's native language if at all possible. It should be administered by a trained and knowledgeable professional. The assessment should match the specific educational needs of your child, and it should have everything it needs to be able to identify all of your child's special education needs. You have the right to obtain an independent educational evaluation (IEE) for your child if you disagree with the evaluation of your child that was obtained by your LEA.

Eligibility

Once your child's evaluation has been completed, there will be a meeting for you to attend to discuss the results. In this meeting you will receive a copy of the evaluation results. Additionally, you and the evaluation team will discuss the evaluation results and other information about your child and determine whether your child is a child with a disability. During this time you will participate in the determination of the educational needs of your child. Your child's LEA must obtain your consent before providing special education and related services to your child.

Development of the Individualized Education Program (IEP)

After your child has been evaluated and found eligible, a meeting will be held to develop an Individualized Education Plan (IEP) for your child to provide special education and related services in the public school. An IEP is a document that is developed to meet the specific and unique needs of your child.

At the IEP meeting, you will work with school representatives to determine the special education supports and services that will meet the needs of your child.

The IEP team consists of the following people:

- You, as the child's parent or guardian
- Your child (when appropriate)
- A special education teacher or other special education provider
- A general education teacher (when appropriate)
- · A representative of the LEA who is knowledgeable about specially designed instruction, curriculum, and LEA resources
- Other people whom you or the LEA wish to invite

You are a very important part of the IEP team. Your child's school will take steps to make sure you have the opportunity to participate in the creation of your child's IEP. You have the right to be notified of the meeting in advance and to have the meeting at a time and place that is convenient for you.

IEP meetings might seem overwhelming. There are often many people from your child's school there, the time goes by quickly, and you may feel rushed. Here are some ideas that may help to increase your participation and improve the IEP process.

- · Communicate regularly with school staff.
- Prepare your thoughts before the meeting by writing down the important points you want to make about your child.
- Take someone with you to serve as your support system.
- · Ask questions if you don't understand something or if you need more information.
- Participate in the academic goal setting process and request regular updates on your child's progress towards these goals.

Your child's IEP is designed to support your child and should include:

- · Your child's present levels of academic and functional performance
 - » In this section of the IEP, you will see information about your child's strengths and needs, comments about how your child is doing in the classroom, results of any standardized tests, and any other areas of concern that have been identified.
- IEP Goals
 - » Goals are the specific skills that you and the rest of the IEP team want to see your child accomplish. Goals are based on your child's current levels of performance and should be measurable. Goals should help your child make progress in the general education curriculum and could be reasonably accomplished in one year. Goals can be academic, behavioral, and social and can address self-help or other educational needs.
 - » If your child is participating in an alternate assessment, there will be goals and objectives that support that assessment.
- · A description of how the goals will be measured and how the school staff will track your child's progress
 - » The IEP should explain the tools you and your child's IEP team will use to determine whether or not your child is accomplishing his or her goals.
- · The special education, related services, accommodations, and modifications your child will receive
 - » In this part of the IEP process, the team will determine how to put your child's IEP into action. The LEA must provide a free appropriate public education (FAPE) for your child in the least restrictive environment (LRE). This means that, to the maximum extent appropriate, the team should figure out ways for your child to participate with children who do not have disabilities in a general education setting.
 - » This part of the IEP also includes an explanation of the extent, if any, that your child will not participate in the general education class.
 - » The IEP will also include the date that your child's special education services will begin, where and how often they will be provided, and how long they will last.
- Other special factors to be considered:
 - » Supports and strategies for behavior management
 - » Language needs if your child has limited proficiency in English
 - » Braille needs if your child is blind or visually disabled
 - » Communication needs
 - » Health needs during the school day
 - » Assistive technology devices or services
 - » Transition services for your child before he or she reaches age sixteen
 - » Extended school year services (ESYS)

IEP Review

According to the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA), an IEP meeting must be held annually. At this IEP meeting, the team will look at your child's goals and determine whether or not they are being achieved. The IEP will be changed or updated to include new goals, new evaluation information, and any other relevant information about your child. You may request an IEP review meeting at any time in order to revise your child's IEP. The LEA can refuse this request but must provide you with a written explanation of the reason the request was denied.

Reevaluations

Either you or a member of the LEA can request a reevaluation to review your child's educational and/or related service needs. The reevaluation will typically not occur more than once per year and should take place at least once every three years unless you and the LEA agree that a reevaluation is not necessary.

Definitions and Acronyms

If, at any time, you see or hear words or acronyms that you do not understand, ask school staff to explain them right away. As an equal partner in planning, you must understand all the information you read or hear so you can help decide what is best for your child. This guide includes some of the terms and acronyms you may hear throughout the special education process.

Accommodations: Changes made in how your child is taught or tested based on his or her disability needs. Accommodations do not change what your child is taught or what your child is expected to know. Highlighted textbooks, more time to complete work when your child reads or writes slowly, and seating close to the teacher are all common accommodations. These accommodations could include instructional materials to help your child access textbooks or other curriculum.

Adapted Physical Education (APE): Physical education which has been adapted or modified so that it is as appropriate for a child with a disability as it is for a child without a disability.

Adequate Yearly Progress (AYP): The federal law No Child Left Behind (NCLB) requires all schools, school districts, and states to show yearly progress in reading/language arts, math, and either graduation rates or attendance rates.

Advocate: An attorney or non-attorney with specialized knowledge or skill in helping parents and students resolve problems with schools. Parents are their child's first and often most effective advocates.

Alternative Education Placement (AEPs): Disciplinary programs operated by school districts for students who have committed a range of offenses listed in state law and/or in the LEA's Student Code of Conduct.

Assessment: Assessments are tests given to all students. Students with disabilities may need accommodations which will be written in the IEP. Certain students may need an alternate assessment when they can not participate in regular assessments, even with accommodations.

Assistive Technology (AT): Any items, pieces of equipment or products used to increase, maintain, or improve the way your child functions. Assistive technology devices for students with disabilities may be used to assist with seating and positioning, mobility, communication, computer access and instruction, and self-care.

Behavior Intervention Plan (BIP) or Behavior Support Plan (BSP): Lists supports and services the LEA will give your child to increase positive behavior and to reduce the impact of negative behavior on learning.

Child Find: A continuous process of public awareness activities, screening, and evaluation designed to locate, identify, and refer as early as possible all young children with disabilities and their families

Common Core State Standards, Common Core (CCSS): New academic standards in English Language Arts and Math based on research and developed by a collection of teachers, school leaders, and education experts. The CCSS define what students need to learn in reading, writing, and math in each grade to stay on track for college and career readiness.

Dispute Resolution: Parents and LEAs working together to resolve disagreements concerning special education in order to preserve the relationships necessary to student success. Dispute Resolution options include: IEP facilitation, mediation, informal and formal complaints, and due process hearings.

Early Childhood Special Education (ECSE): Children with disabilities, birth through five years of age, may qualify for special education services. Children age 0-2 receive early intervention services through the Department of Health and Hospitals. Children who are age 3-5 receive IEP services through the LEA.

Early Resolution Process (ERP): An opportunity for families and LEA staff to attempt to resolve disputes prior to the exercise of the LDOE's supervisory jurisdiction in addressing allegations that the LEA is violating a requirement of the IDEA.

Equitable Services: Special education services made available to parentally-placed private school students with disabilities.

Extended School Year Services (ESYS): Services provided in the summer to some students with disabilities that require services as a part of their free appropriate public education. ESYS services must be provided according to the IEP and at no cost to you.

Free Appropriate Public Education (FAPE): Special education and/or related services designed to meet the individual needs of each student at no cost to you, guaranteed to all eligible students with disabilities by the Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA).

Functional Behavior Assessment (FBA): A set of activities used to find out the cause of a child's behavior before deciding what to do to change the behavior (intervention).

Individual Education Program (IEP): An individualized plan developed by parents and school staff that describes the special education and related services to be given to a student who receives special education. It must be reviewed and, if needed, revised at least once each year.

Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA): Federal legislation designed to make sure school districts provide a free appropriate public education to students with disabilities that will prepare them for further education, employment, and independent living.

Least Restrictive Environment (LRE): To the maximum extent appropriate, children with disabilities are educated with children who are not disabled, and special classes, separate schooling, or other removal of children with disabilities from the general educational environment occurs only when the nature or severity of the child's disability is such that education in regular classes with the use of supplementary aids and services cannot be achieved satisfactorily.

Local Education Agency (LEA): A public agency which supervises the provision of instruction or educational services to the community. People often use the term "school district" to refer to the LEA. LEAs may supervise multiple schools or, in the case of charter schools, may be comprised of only one school.

Louisiana Department of Education (LDOE): The state agency responsible for supervising the LEAs to ensure that students with disabilities enrolled in public schools get a free appropriate public education (FAPE).

Manifestation Determination Review (MDR): A meeting to review the relationship between a child's disability and his or her behavior that needs disciplinary action.

Modifications: Modifications, unlike accommodations, change the level of instruction provided or tested. Modifications create a different standard for children who receive them. The most common modifications are those made to the general education curriculum for a child with a significant cognitive disability.

No Child Left Behind (NCLB): Federal legislation that ensures that all children have a fair, equal, and significant opportunity to obtain a high-quality education and reach, at a minimum, proficiency on challenging state academic achievement standards and state academic assessments.

Parent: A biological, or adoptive parent of a child; a foster parent; a guardian generally authorized to act as the student's parent, or authorized to make educational decisions for the student, but not the state if the student is a ward of the state; an individual acting in the place of a biological or adoptive parent with whom the student lives, or an individual who is legally responsible for the student's welfare; or a surrogate parent who has been appointed in accordance with law.

Partnership for Assessment of Readiness for College and Careers (PARCC): A series of assessments for English language arts and math developed to provide a meaningful measure of student achievement in the Common Core curriculum.

Procedural Safeguards: Protections designed to defend the rights of children with disabilities and their parents. Safeguards include the right to participate in IEP meetings, examine educational records, participate in complaint and due process procedures, and many other protections under the IDEA. Your procedural safeguards are included in this guide.

Response to Intervention (RtI): A process that provides intensive, high-quality instruction and interventions aimed at supporting the learning or behavioral needs of a student. The targeted interventions are generally provided before deciding that a student has a disability that requires special education services. The results of these interventions will be used to drive ongoing instruction whether a student is in special education or general education.

School Building Level Committee (SBLC): A group that meets regularly to discuss concerns from teachers, parents, or other professionals on individual students experiencing difficulty in school because of academic and/or behavior problems. The SBLC shall review and analyze data, including RtI results, to determine the most beneficial options for the student.

Section 504: The common name for the federal law that prohibits discrimination against students with disabilities. Section 504 (of Public Law 93–112, the Rehabilitation Act of 1973) applies to any agency, public or private, which receives federal funds. Services are typically provided in the form of accommodations.

State Board of Elementary and Secondary Education (BESE): The administrative body overseeing all Louisiana public elementary and secondary schools. BESE adopts regulations and enacts policies governing the operations of those schools under its jurisdiction and exercises budgetary oversight of their educational programs and services.

Supplementary Aids and Services: The term used in IDEA to describe those aids, services, and other supports given in general education classes, extracurricular activities, and non-academic settings, so that a child with a disability can be educated with students who do not have disabilities.

Universal Design for Learning (UDL): A way of designing instruction that allows equal access to content to be used by people with the widest possible range of abilities.

Further Information

If after reading this guide you would like more information about special education or you have questions about your child's education, you may contact your child's teacher, the school principal, or your LEA's Special Education Director.

In addition, you may call the Louisiana Department of Education's toll free number at 1-877-453-2721.

The Families Helping Families Regional Resource Centers are also available to assist you.

FHF of Southeast Louisiana

Region I - serving parishes of Orleans, Plaquemines, and

St. Bernard

Carol Calix, Executive Director 7240 Crowder Blvd., Suite 202

New Orleans, LA 70127

504-943-0343 or 1-877-243-7352 • 504-940-3242 Fax

Email: info@fhfsela.org Website: www.fhfsela.org

FHF of Greater Baton Rouge

Region II – serving parishes of East and West Baton Rouge, East and West Feliciana, Iberville, Pointe Coupee, and Ascension

Jamie Tindle, Executive Director

2356 Drusilla Lane

Baton Rouge, Louisiana 70809

225-216-7474 or 1-866-216-7474 · 225-216-7977 Fax

Email: info@fhfgbr.org Website: www.fhfgbr.org

Bayou Land FHF

Region III – serving parishes of Assumption, Lafourche, St. Charles, St. James, St. John, St. Mary, and Terrebonne

Kim Detillier, Executive Director

286 Hwy. 3185

Thibodeaux, LA 70301

985-447-4461or 1-800-331-5570 · 985-447-7988 Fax

Email: blfhf@bellsouth.net Website: www.blfhf.org

FHF of Acadiana

Region IV - serving parishes of Acadia, Evangeline, Iberia, La-

fayette, St. Landry, St. Martin, and Vermilion Mauricia Walters, Interim Executive Director

100 Benman Road

Lafayette, Louisiana 70506

337-984-3458 or 1-800-378-9854 • 337-984-3468 Fax

Email: mwalters@fhfacadiana.org Website: www.fhfacadiana.com

FHF of Southwest Louisiana

Region V - serving parishes of Allen, Beauregard,

Calcasieu, Cameron, and Jeff Davis Susan Benoit, Executive Director

2927 Hodges Street

Lake Charles, Louisiana 70601

337-436-2570 or 1-800-894-6558 · 337-436-2578 Fax

Email: info@fhfswla.org Website: www.fhfswla.org

FHF at the Crossroads

Region VI - serving parishes of Avoyelles, Concordia, Cata-

houla, Grant, LaSalle, Rapides, Vernon and Winn

Jim Sprinkle, Executive Director

2840 Military Hwy., Suite A

Pineville, Louisiana 71360

318-641-7373 or 1-800-259-7200 · 318-640-4299 Fax

Email: fhfxroads@aol.com

Website: www.familieshelpingfamilies.net

FHF Region 7

Region VII - serving parishes of Bienville, Bossier, Caddo,

Claiborne, Desoto, Lincoln, Red River, Natchitoches, Sabine,

and Webster

Chanel Jackson, Executive Director

2620 Centenary Blvd. Bldg. 2, Suite 250

Shreveport, Louisiana 71104

318-226-4541 or 1-877-226-4541 • 318-226-4541 Fax

Email: info@fhfregion7.com Website: www.fhfregion7.com

FHF of Northeast Louisiana

Region VIII - serving parishes of Caldwell, East Carroll,

Franklin, Jackson, Lincoln, Madison, Morehouse, Ouachita,

Richland, Tensas, Union, and West Carroll

Aliscia Banks, Executive Director

Laura Nettles, Co-director

5200 Northeast Road

Monroe, Louisiana 71203

318-361-0487 or 1-888-300-1320 · 318-361-0417 Fax

Email: info@fhfnela.org Website: www.fhfnela.org

Northshore FHF

Region IX - serving parishes of Livingston, St. Helena, St.

Tammany, Tangipahoa, Washington

Sue Ellen Stewart, Executive Director

204 West 21st Avenue

Covington, Louisiana 70433

985-875-0511 or 1-800-383-8700 • 985-875-9979 Fax

Email: info@fhfnorthshore.org Website: www.fhfnorthshore.org

FHF Jefferson

Region X — serving Jefferson Parish

Mary Jacob, Executive Director

201 Evans Road, Bldg.1, Suite 100

Harahan, Louisiana 70123

504-888-9111 or 1-800-766-7736 • 504-888-0246 Fax

Email: info@fhfjefferson.org Website: www.fhfjefferson.org

Laws and Regulatory Bulletins

The following federal and state laws or regulations guarantee that a student with a disability has a full educational opportunity to benefit from a free appropriate public education (FAPE). State published regulatory bulletins are available to you through the local education agency and the Louisiana Department of Education (LDOE).

Federal Laws

- Individuals with Disabilities Education Act (IDEA), 20 U.S.C. Chapter 33, amended by P.L. 105–1734 Code of Federal Regulations-Parts 300 and 301
- Section 504 of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973
- Family Education Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA)
- Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990 (ADA)

State Law

• R.S. 17:1941, et seq. (R.S. 17:1944.B (8, 11, & 20)

BESE Regulations and Bulletins

- Bulletin 1706: Regulations for Implementation of the Children with Exceptionalities Act
- · Bulletin 1508: The Pupil Appraisal Handbook
- Bulletin 1573: Complaint Management Procedures

You can access these bulletins on the BESE website under the Documents/Resources tab.

http://bese.louisiana.gov/documents-resources/policies-bulletins

Prior Written Notice

General Information

Prior written notice must be given to you whenever the LEA proposes or refuses to initiate or change the identification, evaluation, or educational placement of your child or the provision of a free appropriate public education (FAPE).

The prior notice must include the following information:

- 1. Description of the action that your LEA proposes or refuses to take;
- 2. Explanation of why your LEA proposes or refuses to take the action;
- 3. Description of the evaluation procedure, assessment, record or report your LEA used as a basis for the proposed or refused action;
- 4. Description of any other choices that your child's IEP team considered and the reasons why those choices were rejected;
- 5. Description of other reasons why your LEA proposed or refused the action;
- 6. Statement explaining that you have protections under the procedural safeguards provisions; and
- 7. Identification of the employee or employees of your LEA who you may contact for assistance.

Notice in Understandable Language

Regarding the prior written notice language:

- 1. It must be written in language understandable to the general public and provided in the native language or other mode of communication you use most often, unless it is clearly not feasible to do so.
- 2. If your native language or other mode of communication is not a written language, your LEA shall take steps to ensure that:
 - a. The notice is translated for you orally or by other means in your native language or other mode of communication;

- b. You understand the content of the notice; and
- c. There is written evidence that these requirements have been met.

Native Language

Native language, when used with an individual who has limited English proficiency, means the following:

- 1. The language normally used by the person, or, in the case of a student, the language normally used by the student's parents; and
- 2. In all direct contact with a student (including evaluation of the student), the language normally used by the student in the home or learning environment.

For a person with deafness or blindness, or for a person with no written language, the mode of communication is what the person normally uses (such as sign language, Braille, or oral communication).

Electronic Mail (E-Mail)

If your child's LEA offers you the choice of receiving documents by e-mail, you may choose to receive the following by e-mail:

- 1. Prior written notice;
- 2. Procedural safeguards notice; and
- 3. Notices related to a due process complaint.

Parental Consent

General Information

Parental consent means:

- 1. You have been fully informed in your native language or other method of communication of all information about the action for which you are giving consent;
- 2. You understand and agree in writing to that action, and the consent describes that action and lists the records (if any) that will be released and to whom; and
- 3. You understand that the consent is voluntary on your part and you may withdraw your consent at any time. Your withdrawal of consent does not negate an action that occurred after you gave your consent and before you withdrew it.

Parental Consent for Initial Evaluation

Your LEA cannot conduct an initial evaluation of your child to determine whether your child is eligible to receive special education and related services without first providing you with prior written notice of the proposed action and without obtaining your consent.

Your LEA must make reasonable efforts to obtain your informed consent for an initial evaluation to decide whether your child is a student with a disability.

Your consent for initial evaluation does not mean that you have also given your consent for the LEA to start providing special education and related services to your child.

If you refuse to provide consent or fail to respond to a request to provide consent for an initial evaluation, your LEA may, but is not required to, seek to conduct an initial evaluation of your child by utilizing the mediation or due process complaint, resolution meeting, and impartial due process hearing procedures. Your LEA will not violate its obligations to locate, identify and evaluate your child if it does not pursue an evaluation of your child in these circumstances.

Special Consent Rules for Initial Evaluation of Wards of the State

Ward of the State means a child who, as determined by the state where the child lives, is:

- 1. A foster child;
- 2. Considered a ward of the state under Louisiana state law; or
- 3. In the custody of a public child welfare agency.

Ward of the state does not include a foster child who has a foster parent who meets the definition of a parent.

If a student is a ward of the state and is not living with his or her parent, the LEA does not need consent from the parent for an initial evaluation to determine if the student is a student with a disability if:

- 1. Despite reasonable efforts to do so, the LEA cannot find the student's parent(s);
- 2. The rights of the parents have been terminated in accordance with the state law; or
- 3. A judge assigned the right to make educational decisions and to consent for an initial evaluation to an individual other than the parent.

Parental Consent for Services

Your LEA must obtain your informed consent before providing special education and related services to your child for the first time. Your LEA shall make reasonable efforts to obtain your informed consent.

If you do not respond to a request to provide consent for your child to receive services for the first time, or if you refuse to give such consent, your LEA may not use the procedural safeguards (i.e., mediation, due process complaint, resolution meeting, or an impartial due process hearing) in order to obtain agreement or a ruling that the special education and related services (recommended by your child's IEP team) may be provided to your child without your consent.

If you refuse to give consent for your child to receive special education and related services for the first time, or if you do not respond to a request to provide such consent and the LEA does not provide your child with the special education and related services for which it sought your consent, your LEA:

- 1. Is not in violation of the requirement to make a FAPE available to your child; and
- 2. Is not required to have an IEP meeting or develop an IEP for your child.

Parental Consent for Reevaluations

Your LEA must obtain your informed consent before it reevaluates your child, unless your LEA can demonstrate that:

- 1. It took reasonable steps to obtain your consent for your child's reevaluation; and
- 2. You did not respond.

If you refuse to consent to your child's reevaluation, the LEA may, but is not required to, pursue your child's reevaluation. As with initial evaluations, your LEA does not violate its obligations under the IDEA if it declines to pursue the reevaluation.

Other Consent Requirements

Your consent is NOT required before your LEA may:

- 1. Review existing data as part of your child's evaluation or a reevaluation; or
- 2. Give your child a test or other evaluation that is given to all students unless, before the test or evaluation, consent is required from all parents of all students.

Your LEA may not use your refusal to consent to one service or activity to deny you or your child any other service, benefit, or activity.

If you have enrolled your child in a private school at your own expense or if you are home schooling your child, and you do not provide your consent for your child's initial evaluation or your child's reevaluation, or you fail to respond to a request to provide your consent, the LEA may not use measures such as mediation or due process hearing procedures and is not required to consider your child as eligible to receive equitable services.

Revocation of Parental Consent

If, at any time subsequent to the initial provision of special education and related services, you revoke consent in writing for the continued provision of special education and related services, the LEA may not continue to provide these services to the student, but must provide prior written notice before ceasing the services. The LEA may not use mediation or due process hearing procedures in order to obtain agreement or a ruling that the services may be provided to the student.

If you revoke your consent for the continued provision of special education and related services to your child, the LEA:

- 1. Will not be considered to be in violation of the requirement to make a FAPE available for its failure to provide the student with further special education and related services to your child; and
- 2. Is not required to convene an IEP team meeting or develop an IEP for the student for further provision of special education and related services.

If you revoke consent in writing for your child's receipt of special education services after the student is initially provided special education and related services, the LEA is not required to amend your child's education records to remove any references to the student's receipt of special education and related services because of the revocation of consent.

Transfer of Parental Rights

When a student with a disability reaches the age of majority, which is age eighteen in Louisiana (except for a student with a disability who has been determined, under applicable state laws, to lack the capacity to make educational decisions), the LEA must:

- 1. Provide any notice required to both you and your child;
- 2. Transfer all other rights accorded to you to your child; and
- 3. Transfer all rights accorded to you to your child who may be incarcerated in an adult or juvenile, state, or local correctional institution.

Independent Educational Evaluation (IEE)

General Information

You have the right to obtain an independent educational evaluation (IEE) for your child if you disagree with the evaluation of your child that was obtained by your LEA. If you request an IEE, the LEA must provide you with information about where you may obtain an IEE and about the LEA's criteria that apply to IEEs.

Definitions

- 1. Independent Educational Evaluation (IEE) means an evaluation conducted by a qualified examiner who is not employed by the LEA responsible for the education of your child.
- 2. Public Expense means that the LEA either pays for the full cost of the evaluation or ensures that the evaluation is otherwise provided at no cost to you.

Parental Right to Evaluation at Public Expense

You have the right to an IEE of your child at public expense if you disagree with an evaluation of your child obtained by your LEA, subject to the following conditions:

- 1. If you request an IEE of your child at public expense, your LEA must, without unnecessary delay, either:
 - a. File a due process complaint to request a hearing to show that its evaluation of your child is appropriate; or
 - b. Provide an IEE at public expense, unless the LEA demonstrates in a hearing that the evaluation of your child that you obtained did not meet the LEA criteria.
- 2. If your LEA requests a due process hearing and the final decision is that your LEA's evaluation of your child is appropriate, you still have the right to an IEE, but not at public expense.
- 3. If you request an IEE of your child, the LEA may ask why you object to its evaluation. However, your LEA may not require an explanation and may not unreasonably delay either providing the IEE of your child at public expense or filing a due process complaint to request a due process hearing to defend the LEA's evaluation of your child.
- 4. You are entitled to only one IEE at public expense each time the LEA conducts an evaluation with which you disagree.

Parent-Initiated Evaluations

If you obtain an IEE of your child at public expense or you share with the LEA an evaluation of your child that you obtained at private expense:

- 1. Your LEA must consider the results of the evaluation of your child, if the IEE meets the LEA's criteria for IEEs, in any decision made with respect to the provision of a FAPE to your child; and
- 2. You or your LEA may present the evaluation as evidence at a due process hearing regarding your child.

Requests for Evaluations by Hearing Officers

If a hearing officer requests an IEE of your child as part of a due process hearing, the cost of the evaluation must be at public expense.

Local Education Agency Criteria

If an IEE is at public expense, the criteria under which the evaluation is obtained, including the location of the evaluation and the qualifications of the examiner, must be the same as the criteria that the LEA uses when it initiates an evaluation (to the extent those criteria are consistent with your right to an IEE).

Except for the criteria described above, the LEA may not impose conditions or timelines related to obtaining an IEE at public expense.

Confidentiality of Information

General Information

Policies and procedures are in effect to ensure that the LEA complies with protecting your child's personally identifiable information.

Definitions

- 1. Destruction means physical destruction or removal of personal identifiers from information so that the information is no longer personally identifiable.
- 2. Education records means the type of records covered under the definition of "education records" in the regulations implementing the Family Educational Rights and Privacy Act (FERPA).
- 3. Participating agency means any LEA, agency or institution that collects, maintains, or uses personally identifiable information, or from which information is obtained.
- 4. Personally identifiable means information that has:
 - a. Your child's name, your name as the parent, or the name of another family member;
 - b. Your child's address;
 - c. A personal identifier, such as your child's social security number or student number; or
 - d. A list of personal characteristics or other information that would make it possible to identify your child with reasonable certainty.

Notice to Parents

The LDOE must give adequate notice to fully inform you about confidentiality of personally identifiable information, including:

- 1. A description of the extent to which the notice is given in the native languages of the various population groups in the state;
- 2. A description of the students on whom personally identifiable information is maintained, the types of information sought, the methods the state intends to use in gathering the information (including the sources from whom information is gathered), and the uses to be made of the information;
- 3. A summary of the policies and procedures that participating agencies must follow regarding storage, disclosure to third parties, retention, and destruction of personally identifiable information; and

4. A description of all the rights of parents and students regarding this information, including the rights under FERPA and its implementing regulations.

Before any major identification, location, or evaluation activity (also known as "child find"), the notice must be published or announced in newspapers or other media or both, with circulation adequate to notify parents throughout the state of the activity to locate, identify, and evaluate children in need of special education and related services.

Access Rights

Each LEA must permit you to inspect and review any educational records collected, maintained, or used by your LEA relating to your child with respect to identification, evaluation, educational placement, and the provision of a FAPE. The LEA must comply with your request without unnecessary delay and before any meeting regarding an IEP, or any impartial due process hearing, and in no case more than 45 days after the request has been made.

The right to inspect and review educational records under this section includes your right to:

- 1. A response from the LEA to your reasonable requests for explanations and interpretations of the records;
- 2. Have your representative inspect and review the records; and
- 3. Request that the LEA provide copies of the records if you cannot effectively inspect and review the records unless you receive those copies.

The LEA may presume that you have the authority to inspect and review records relating to your child unless the LEA has been advised that you do not have the authority under applicable state law governing such matters as guardianship, separation and divorce.

Record of Access

Each LEA must keep a record of parties obtaining access to education records collected, maintained, or used (except access by parents and authorized employees of the LEA), including the name of the party, the date access was given, and the purpose for which the party is authorized to use the records.

Records on More than One Child

If any educational record includes information on more than one student, the parent(s) of those students have the right to inspect and review only the information relating to their child or to be informed of that specific information.

Types and Location of Information

On request, each LEA must provide you with a list of the types and locations of education records collected, maintained, or used by the LEA.

Fees

Each LEA may charge a fee for copies of records, which are made for you if the fee does not effectively prevent you from exercising your right to inspect and review those records. Each LEA may not charge a fee to search for or to retrieve information.

Amendment of Records at Parent's Request

If you believe that information in the education records collected, maintained, or used is inaccurate, misleading or violates the privacy or other rights of your child, you may request the LEA that maintains the information to change the information.

The LEA must decide whether to change the information in accordance with the request within a reasonable period of time of receipt of this request.

If the LEA refuses to change the information in accordance with your request, it must inform you of the refusal and advise you of your right to a hearing as set forth under IDEA and FERPA.

Consent

Your consent must be obtained before personally identifiable information is disclosed to parties other than officials of the LEA unless the information is contained in education records and the disclosure is authorized without parental consent under FERPA.

Your consent is not required before personally identifiable information is released to officials of your LEA for purposes of meeting a requirement of the IDEA.

Your consent, or the consent of an eligible child who has reached the age of majority under state law, must be obtained before personally identifiable information is released to officials of the LEA providing or paying for transition services.

If your child is in, or is going to go to a private school that is not located in the same LEA you reside in, your consent must be obtained before any personally identifiable information about your child is released between officials in the LEA where the private school is located and officials in the LEA where you reside.

Safeguards

Each LEA must protect the confidentiality of personally identifiable information at collection, storage, disclosure, and destruction stages.

One official at each LEA must assume responsibility for ensuring the confidentiality of any personally identifiable information.

All persons collecting or using personally identifiable information must receive training or instruction regarding the state's policies and procedures concerning confidentiality under the IDEA and FERPA.

Each LEA must maintain, for public inspection, a current listing of the names and positions of those employees within the agency that may have access to personally identifiable information.

Destruction of Information

Your LEA must inform you when personally identifiable information collected, maintained, or used is no longer needed to provide educational services to your child.

The information shall be destroyed at your request; however, a permanent record of your child's name, address, and telephone number, grades, attendance record, classes attended, grade level completed, and year completed may be maintained without time limitation.

Hearing Procedures

The LEA must, on request, provide you with the opportunity for a hearing to challenge information in the educational records regarding your child to ensure that it is not inaccurate, misleading, or otherwise in violation of the privacy or other rights of your child.

A hearing to challenge information in education records must be conducted according to the procedures for such hearings under FERPA.

Result of Hearing

If, as a result of the hearing, the educational agency or institution decides that the information is inaccurate, misleading, or otherwise in violation of the privacy rights of the student, it shall amend the record accordingly and inform you of the amendment in writing.

If, as a result of the hearing, the LEA decides that the information is not inaccurate, is misleading, or otherwise in violation of the privacy or other rights of your child, it must inform you of your right to place in your child's records a statement commenting on the information or providing any reasons you disagree with the decisions of the LEA.

Such an explanation placed in the records of your child:

- 1. Must be maintained by the LEA as part of the records of your child as long as the record or contested portion is maintained by the LEA; and
- 2. If the LEA discloses the challenged portion of your child's records to any party, the explanation must also be disclosed to that party.

Complaint and Dispute Resolution

General Information

Sometimes you may disagree with the LEA about your child's special education. The LDOE has developed dispute resolution processes for resolving the disagreement about your child's disability identification or eligibility, evaluation, the level of services or placement, the provision of FAPE, or payment for services that you have obtained. (See page 26 for the LDOE Dispute Resolution Comparison Chart.)

IEP Facilitation

IEP meeting facilitation is a non-adversarial dispute resolution method offered by the LDOE. This option is available to you and LEAs when they both agree that it would be valuable to have a neutral person — an IEP Facilitator — present at an IEP meeting to assist in discussing issues regarding your child's IEP. Typically, an IEP Facilitator is brought in when parents and local education agencies' staff are having difficulties communicating with one another regarding the needs of the student.

The IEP Facilitator assists in creating an atmosphere for fair communication and aids in the successful drafting of an IEP for the student. An IEP Facilitator does not make decisions; instead, he or she facilitates discussion and decision-making.

Either the parent or the LEA may request IEP facilitation. However, since the process is voluntary, both sides must agree to participate in a facilitated IEP meeting. The process can be initiated by making a request to the LDOE's Legal Division. The service is provided at no cost to you or the LEA. You may choose to use the form located on the department's website to request IEP facilitation.

Mediation

Mediation is available to resolve a disagreement between you and the LEA regarding the identification, evaluation, placement, services, or the provision of a FAPE to your child. Mediation is a way to discuss and resolve disagreements between you and the LEA with the help of an impartial third person who has been trained in effective dispute resolution techniques. Mediation is a voluntary process, and both you and the LEA must agree to participate in order for the mediation session to occur. The mediation sessions are scheduled in a timely manner and held in a location that is convenient to the parties in the dispute.

A mediator does not make decisions; instead, he/she facilitates discussion and decision-making. The discussions in a mediation session are confidential and may not be used as evidence in subsequent due process hearings or civil court proceedings. If the mediation process results in full or partial agreement, the mediator and the parties will prepare a written agreement to be signed by both you and the LEA's representative. In addition to describing the things you have agreed to, the mediation agreement will state that all discussions that occurred during the mediation are confidential and may not be used as evidence in a due process hearing or other civil court proceeding. The signed agreement is legally binding on both you and the LEA and is enforceable in court.

You may request mediation before, at the same time, or after requesting a due process hearing or complaint investigation. Requesting mediation will not prevent or delay a due process hearing or complaint investigation, nor will mediation impair any of your other rights under the IDEA or related state laws.

Requesting Mediation

In order to initiate the mediation process, you must make a request for mediation to the Legal Division. You may request mediation by calling (225) 342–3572; by sending written notice by fax to (225) 342–1197; or, by mailing written notice to the LDOE, P.O. Box 94064, Baton Rouge, Louisiana 70804–9064, Attention: Legal Division. A mediation request form can also be found on the department's website www.louisianabelieves.com.

The Legal Division will assign a mediator who will contact both you and the LEA to schedule a meeting at a convenient location. The Legal Division maintains a list of mediators who are trained, qualified, and knowledgeable about the laws and regulations relating to the provision of special education and related services. Mediators are assigned on a rotational basis.

No employee of the LDOE, LEA, or other public agency providing special education services is eligible to be a mediator. A mediator is not considered to be an employee solely because he/she is paid to provide this service. A mediator must not have any personal or professional conflict of interest. The LDOE bears the cost of the mediation process.

The LEA may establish procedures to offer you the opportunity to meet at a convenient time and location with someone from a parent training center or alternative dispute resolution entity to discuss the benefits of the meditation process when you have opted not to participate in mediation with the LEA. However, the procedures cannot be used to delay or deny your right to pursue other dispute resolution options if you decline to participate in such a meeting. The LDOE pays for the cost of these meetings.

Informal Complaints

It is the policy of the LDOE to encourage and support prompt and effective resolution of any complaint in the least adversarial manner possible. The implementation of the Early Resolution Process (ERP) by each school district draws on the traditional model of parents and school districts working cooperatively in the educational interest of your child to achieve their shared goals of meeting the educational needs of students with disabilities.

The informal complaint process is an opportunity for attempting to resolve disputes prior to the exercise of the LDOE's supervisory jurisdiction in addressing allegations that the LEA is violating a requirement of the IDEA.

Informal complaints must be addressed by the LEA within 15 days of receipt of the complaint. Informal complaints may be made directly with the LEA ERP representative either in-person or by telephone, mail, facsimile, e-mail or Telecommunications for the Deaf (TDD).

After participating in the informal complaint process, you and the LEA may sign a resolution agreement or an agreement to extend the resolution period. If no agreement is reached and no extension is requested, the LEA's ERP representative shall provide you with the LDOE's explanation of dispute resolution options. At any time during the ERP process, you may pursue the other dispute resolution options provided by the LDOE.

Formal Complaints

Formal administrative complaints are procedures developed under the supervisory jurisdiction of the LDOE to address allegations that a LEA is violating a requirement of the IDEA. A parent, adult student, individual, or organization may file a signed written complaint by U.S. mail, facsimile, email, or TDD with the LDOE.

The party filing the complaint shall forward a copy of the complaint to the LEA or public agency serving the student at the same time the party files the complaint with the LDOE. Formal complaints must be written and signed and must allege a violation that occurred not more than one year prior to the date that the complaint is received.

Unless the parties have already attempted informal resolution on the same issues, the LEA shall offer the complainant an opportunity to participate in local resolution efforts prior to the LDOE's investigation of the complaint allegations. Upon expiration of the ERP, the complaint is reviewed, and the LEA is notified and asked to provide specific information.

The LDOE will provide the LEA an opportunity to dispute the allegations made in the complaint or to offer a proposal to resolve the complaint. The party filing the complaint will also be given an opportunity to provide additional information during the investigation. Depending upon the nature of the complaint, an on-site visit may be made to the LEA by the LDOE. All relevant information is reviewed, and a determination is made as to whether the LEA has violated a requirement of applicable federal or state statues, regulations, or standards.

The LDOE has 60 days from receipt of the complaint or 45 days from the end of the ERP to issue a written decision to all parties on each of the allegations of the complaint. The timeline for completion of the investigation and issuance of a written decision may be extended for extenuating circumstances or, with the consent of both parties, to allow additional time for the parties to participate in mediation or other local resolution efforts.

The LDOE has developed forms to help you file complaints. These forms are located on the LDOE's website www.louisianabelieves.com. You may choose not to use these forms to file a complaint; however, requests for complaint investigations must include all of the information required by law.

Due Process Hearings

A due process hearing is a formal, court-like proceeding in which evidence is presented to an independent hearing officer in order to resolve a dispute between you and the LEA regarding your child's disability identification, evaluation, eligibility, placement, services, or reimbursement of services you have obtained privately. Only you, your attorney representing your child, or the LEA may request a due process hearing regarding a student with a disability.

Due Process Hearing Request Procedures

To request a due process hearing, you must send a signed, written request with the required information to the LDOE, Attention: Legal Division, P.O. Box 94064, Baton Rouge, Louisiana 70804–9064, and to the LEA. The written request must include your name, address, and telephone number; the student's name and address (if different); the name of the LEA you are making allegations against and, if different, the LEA the student attends; a statement of the reason for the hearing request, including a description of the LEA problem and a statement of the facts relating to the problem; and a proposal for resolution to the problem, to the extent known to you. You may choose to use the Due Process Hearing Request form located on the LDOE's website. You will not be able to have a due process hearing unless your written request for a hearing conforms to all of the requirements listed above.

A request for a due process hearing must be made within one year of the date you knew or should have known about the alleged action forming the basis of your dispute with the LEA. This one-year limit does not apply if you were prevented from requesting the hearing because the LEA specifically misrepresented that it had resolved the problem you complained about or if the LEA withheld pertinent information from you that it was required to provide you under the IDEA.

Legal Services

Upon your request, the agency must provide you with information on free or low-cost legal and other relevant services in your area if you or the LEA files a request for a due process hearing.

Sufficiency of Due Process Hearing Request

If the LEA believes your letter requesting a due process hearing does not contain all of the required information listed above, it may send a letter to you and the hearing officer indicating that your request does not comply with the requirements. If the LEA is going to send this letter, it must do so within 15 days of receiving your request for a due process hearing. The hearing officer then has five (5) days to determine if your request is sufficient and will immediately inform both you and the LEA in writing of the decision. If the hearing officer agrees with the LEA, you must resubmit the request for a due process hearing that meets all of the requirements. If the LEA does not challenge the contents of your request for a due process hearing, it is considered to meet all of the requirements.

Local Educational Agency Response to a Due Process Hearing Request

The LEA must abide by certain requirements within specific time periods after it receives your request for a due process hearing. Within 10 days of receiving your request for a due process hearing, the LEA must do two things:

- 1. Send you written notice regarding the subject matter of your request for a due process hearing including:
 - a. An explanation of why the LEA proposed or refused to take the action that is the subject of the due process hearing;
 - b. A description of the options the IEP team considered and the reasons they were rejected;
 - c. A description of each evaluation procedure, assessment, record, or report the LEA used as the basis for its decision; and
 - d. A description of the factors the LEA believes is relevant to its proposal or refusal.
- 2. Send you a written response that specifically addresses the issues you raise in your request for a due process hearing.

NOTE: The LEA is not required to send you this written notice after it received your request for a due process hearing if the LEA previously sent you prior written notice on the same matter.

Resolution Process

Within 15 days of receipt of a request for a due process hearing, the LEA shall convene a meeting called a "resolution meeting." The meeting must include a representative from the LEA with decision-making authority and relevant members of the IEP team, as determined by the parent and the LEA, who have information about the facts alleged in the hearing request. Unless you bring your attorney to this meeting, the LEA may not have an attorney at the meeting. In this meeting you will discuss the facts that formed the basis of your request and give the LEA an opportunity to resolve the issues you raised in your request. You can agree with the LEA to use an alternative means to hold the resolution meeting (e.g., via video conference or conference telephone call).

The resolution period ends 30 days after the filing of the due process hearing request if the parties have failed to reach an agreement. The resolution period may end sooner if:

- 1. The parties fail to reach agreement and inform the hearing officer that they are no longer interested in pursuing a settlement agreement; or
- 2. One of the parties fails to participate in a resolution meeting within 15 days of the filing of the due process hearing request and the other party requests that the hearing officer move forward with the hearing timeline.

Written Settlement Agreement

If a resolution to the dispute is reached at the resolution meeting, you and the LEA must enter into a legally binding agreement that is:

- 1. Signed by you and a representative of the LEA who has the authority to bind the agency; and
- 2. Enforceable in any state court of competent jurisdiction (a state court that has authority to hear this type of case) or in a district court of the United States.

Agreement Review Period

If you and the LEA enter into an agreement as a result of a resolution meeting, either party may void the agreement within three (3) business days of the time that both you and the LEA signed the agreement.

Independent Hearing Officer

An independent hearing officer conducts the due process hearing. The LDOE maintains a list of individuals who serve as independent hearing officers, along with a list of each individual's qualifications. Individuals who serve as independent hearing officers cannot be employees of the LDOE or the LEA that is involved in the student's care or education, and they cannot have any professional or personal interest that would conflict with his or her objectivity in conducting the hearing. In addition, the hearing officer must possess knowledge of the federal statutes and regulations governing special education services, as well as "legal interpretations" made by federal and state courts; possess the knowledge and ability to conduct hearings in accordance with standard legal practice; and be able to render and write decisions in accordance with standard legal practice. An individual who otherwise qualifies to conduct a hearing is not an employee of the LEA or state agency solely because he or she is paid by the state agency to serve as the independent hearing officer.

Before the hearing occurs, the independent hearing officer will contact you and the LEA to make arrangements for a pre-hearing conference. One of the things you will decide at the pre-hearing conference is when the hearing will occur. The hearing will be held at a time and place reasonably convenient to you and the LEA. The independent hearing officer will send you written notice concerning the time and the place of the hearing and other procedural matters.

Subject Matter of the Due Process Hearing

You will not be able to raise issues at the hearing that did not include in your hearing request, unless the LEA agrees otherwise.

Due Process Hearing Rights

You and the LEA have the right to:

- 1. Be accompanied and advised by legal counsel and by individuals with knowledge and training with respect to special education or the problems of students with disabilities;
- 2. Present evidence, confront, cross-examine, and compel the attendance of any witnesses;
- 3. Prohibit the introduction of any evidence at the hearing that has not been disclosed at least five (5) business days prior to the hearing; separate the witnesses so that they do not hear other witnesses' testimony; and
- 4. Be provided with an interpreter, if appropriate.

As a parent, you also have the right to:

- 1. Decide whether your child (who is the subject of the hearing) will attend the hearing;
- 2. Have the hearing opened or closed to the public; and
- 3. Obtain a written or an electronic verbatim transcript of the proceedings and a written or electronic copy of the independent hearing officer's written decision, including findings of fact, conclusions, and orders without cost to you.

Additional Disclosure of Information

Before the hearing, you are entitled to a copy of your child's educational record, including all tests and reports upon which the school's proposed or refused action is based. At least five (5) business days before the date of the hearing, you and the LEA must disclose to each other the evaluations each intends to use in the hearing, and copies of all evaluations and recommendations based on those evaluations must be exchanged by that deadline. If either party fails to make these disclosures on time, the hearing officer may bar the evidence from the hearing. If an evaluation is underway and has not been completed, it is necessary to inform each other and the independent hearing officer.

Student's Placement during Due Process Proceedings

Except when your child has violated a LEA rule or has done something that presents a risk of harm to your child or others as described in the section entitled Procedures when Disciplining Children with Disabilities, your child shall remain in the current educational placement during any due process or court proceedings unless you and the LEA agree to another placement. If the hearing involves an application for initial admission to the LEA, your child, with your consent, must be placed in public school until the proceedings are finished.

Due Process Hearing Timeline

The independent hearing officer must conduct the hearing and mail you and the LEA a written decision within 45 calendar days of the expiration of the resolution period as discussed above. A hearing officer may grant specific extensions of time beyond the 45 calendar day time period at the request of either party.

Hearing Decisions

The decision of the hearing officer is made on substantive grounds based on a determination of whether the school provided your child with a free appropriate public education (FAPE). If your request for a hearing includes or is based on alleged procedural violations, the hearing officer may find that your child did not receive a FAPE only if he or she finds that the procedural violations occurred and that those procedural violations:

- 1. Impeded your child's right to a FAPE;
- 2. Significantly impeded your opportunity to participate in the decision–making process regarding the provision of FAPE; or
- 3. Deprived your child of educational benefits.

As part of his or her decision and order, the hearing officer may order the LEA to comply with the procedural requirements.

Civil Action

If you disagree with the hearing officer's written decision, you have the right to bring civil action in state or federal court. You may be entitled to file a lawsuit under other state or federal laws. However, if you are seeking a remedy that is also available under the IDEA, you must pursue your claims through a due process hearing before bringing a civil action.

In any civil action, the court:

- 1. Receives the records of the administrative proceedings;
- 2. Hears additional evidence at your request or at the LEA 's request; and
- 3. Bases its decision on the preponderance of the evidence and grants the relief that the court determines to be appropriate.

The district courts of the United States have authority to rule on actions brought under Part B of the IDEA without regard to the amount in dispute.

Nothing in the IDEA restricts or limits the rights, procedures, and remedies available under the U.S. Constitution, the Americans with Disabilities Act of 1990, Title V of the Rehabilitation Act of 1973 (Section 504), or other Federal laws protecting the rights of students with disabilities, except that before the filing of a civil action under these laws seeking relief that is also available under the IDEA, the due process procedures described above must be exhausted to the same extent as would be required if the party filed the action under the IDEA. This means that you may have remedies available under other laws that overlap with those available under the IDEA, but in general, to obtain relief under those other laws; you must first use the available administrative remedies under the IDEA (i.e., the due process complaint, resolution meeting, and impartial due process hearing procedures) before going directly into court.

Attorney's Fees

You may be eligible for an award of reasonable attorney's fees if an attorney represents you during a due process hearing (including an appeal and subsequent civil action) and you ultimately prevail. The LEA may negotiate with you or your attorney regarding the amount of reimbursement and, if necessary, about who prevailed.

The LEA may seek attorney's fees against you if you request a hearing or file a subsequent cause of action that is frivolous, unreasonable, or without foundation or if you continued to litigate after the litigation was obviously frivolous, unreasonable, or without foundation. The LEA or the LDOE may also seek attorney's fees from you if your hearing request was presented for any improper purpose, such as to harass, to unnecessarily delay, or to needlessly increase cost of litigation.

Mediation is not available to resolve a disagreement on attorney's fees. An action for attorney fees must be filed in the appropriate state or federal court within 30 calendar days of a final decision that is not appealed. Any fees awarded must be based on rates prevailing in the community in which the action or proceeding arose for the kind and quality of services furnished. No bonus or multiplier may be used in calculating the fees awarded under the IDEA of state law.

Procedures When Disciplining Children with Disabilities

General Information

School personnel may remove a student with a disability who violates a code of student conduct from his or her current placement to an appropriate interim alternative educational setting, or suspension, for not more than 10 consecutive school days (to the extent those alternatives are applied to students without disabilities), and for additional removals of not more than 10 consecutive school days in that same school year for separate incidents of misconduct (as long as those removals do not constitute a change of placement).

If a student with a disability has been removed from his or her current placement for a total of 10 cumulative school days in the same school year, then the LEA shall provide services to the extent required during any subsequent days of removal.

Case-by-Case Determination

School personnel may consider any unique circumstances on a case-by-case basis when determining whether a change of placement, consistent with requirements related to discipline, is appropriate for a student with a disability who violates the code of student conduct.

Additional Authority

For disciplinary changes in placement that would exceed 10 consecutive school days, if the behavior that gave rise to the violation of the school code is determined not to be a manifestation of the student's disability, school personnel may apply the same disciplinary procedures to students with disabilities in the same manner and for the same duration as the procedures would be applied to students without disabilities provided that all required educational and related services continue. The student's IEP team determines the interim alternative educational setting for such services.

Services

The services that shall be provided to a student with a disability who has been removed from the student's current placement may be provided in an interim alternative educational setting.

The LEA is only required to provide services to a student with a disability who has been removed from his or her current placement for 10 consecutive school days or less in that school year if it provides services to a student without disabilities who has been similarly removed.

After a student with a disability has been removed from his or her placement for 10 consecutive school days in that same school year, and if the current removal is for 10 consecutive school days or less, and if the removal is not a change of placement, then school personnel, in consultation with at least one of the student's teachers, shall determine the extent to which services are needed to enable the student to continue to participate in the general education curriculum, although in another setting, and to progress toward meeting the goals set out in the student's IEP.

If the removal is a change of placement, the student's IEP team determines the appropriate services to enable the student to continue to participate in the general education curriculum, although in another setting, and to progress toward meeting the goals set out in the student's IEP.

Manifestation Determination

Within 10 school days of any decision to change the placement of a student with a disability because of a violation of the code of student conduct, the LEA, you, and relevant members of the IEP team shall review all relevant information in the student's file to determine:

- 1. If the conduct in question was caused by, or had a direct and substantial relationship to the student's disability; or
- 2. If the conduct in question was the direct result of the LEA's failure to implement the student's IEP.

If the LEA, you, and relevant members of the student's IEP team determine that either of those conditions was met, the conduct must be determined to be a manifestation of the student's disability.

If the LEA, you, and relevant members of your child's IEP team determine that the conduct in question was the direct result of the LEA's failure to implement the IEP, the LEA shall take immediate steps to remedy those deficiencies.

Determination that Behavior was a Manifestation of the Child's Disability

If it is determined that the conduct was a manifestation of the student's disability, the IEP team shall:

1. Conduct a functional behavioral assessment (FBA), unless the LEA had conducted an FBA before the behavior that resulted in the change of placement occurred, and implement a behavioral intervention plan (BIP) for the student; or

2. If a BIP already has been developed, review the BIP, and modify it, as necessary, to address the behavior.

Except as described below under Special Circumstances, the LEA must return the student to the placement from which he or she was removed, unless you and the LEA agree to a change of placement as part of the modification of the BIP.

Special Circumstances

School personnel may remove a student to an interim alternative educational setting for not more than 45 school days without regard to whether the behavior is determined to be a manifestation of the student's disability, if the student:

- 1. Carries or possesses a weapon at school, on school premises, or at a school function under the jurisdiction of the LDOE or the LEA;
- 2. Knowingly possesses or uses illegal drugs, or sells or solicits the sale of a controlled substance, while at school, on school premises, or at a school function under the jurisdiction of the LDOE or a LEA; or
- 3. Has inflicted serious bodily injury upon another person while at school, on school premises, or at a school function under the jurisdiction of the LDOE or a LEA.

Definitions

- 1. **Controlled Substance** means a drug or other substance identified under schedules I, II, III, IV, or V of the Controlled Substances Act.
- 2. *Illegal Drug* means a controlled substance, but does not include a substance that is legally possessed, or used, under the supervision of a licensed health-care professional, or that is legally possessed or used under any other authority under that Act or under any other provision of federal law.
- 3. **Serious Bodily Injury** means a bodily injury that involves a substantial risk of death; extreme physical pain; protracted and obvious disfigurement; or protracted loss or impairment of the function of a bodily member, organ, or faculty.
- 4. Weapon has the meaning given the term "dangerous weapon" in Section 930 of Title 18, United States Code.

Notification

On the date on which the decision is made to make a removal that constitutes a change of placement of a student with a disability because of a violation of a code of student conduct, the LEA shall notify you of that decision and provide you with the procedural safeguards notice.

Referral to and Action by Law Enforcement and Judicial Authorities

Nothing in these regulations prohibits the LEA from reporting a crime committed by a student with a disability to appropriate authorities or prevents state law enforcement and judicial authorities from exercising their responsibilities with regard to the application of federal and state laws to crimes committed by a student with a disability.

Transmittal of Records

If the LEA reports a crime committed by a student with a disability, the LEA shall ensure that copies of the student's special education and disciplinary records are transmitted for consideration by the authorities to whom the agency reports the crime only to the extent permitted by FERPA.

Change of Placement Due to Disciplinary Removals

A removal of a student with a disability from his or her current educational placement is a change of placement if:

- 1. The removal is for more than 10 consecutive school days; or
- 2. The student has been subjected to a series of removals that constitute a pattern because:
- a. The series of removals total more than 10 consecutive school days in a school year;
- b. The student's behavior is substantially similar to behavior in previous incidents that resulted in the series of removals; and

c. Of such additional factors as the length of each removal, the total amount of time the student has been removed, and the proximity of the removals to one another.

Whether a pattern of removals constitutes a change of placement is determined on a case-by-case basis by the LEA, and, if challenged, is subject to review through due process and judicial proceedings.

Appeals

If you disagree with any decision regarding placement or the manifestation determination, you may appeal the decision by requesting a due process hearing.

Authority of State Due Process Hearing Officer

A state due process hearing officer that meets the requirements shall conduct the due process hearing and make a determination. The hearing officer may:

- 1. Return the student with a disability to the placement from which he or she was removed if the hearing officer determines that the removal was a violation of the requirements or that the student's behavior was a manifestation of his or her disability; or
- 2. Order a change of placement for the student to an appropriate interim alternative educational setting for not more than 45 school days if the hearing officer determines that maintaining the current placement is substantially likely to result in injury to the student or to others.

These hearing procedures may be repeated and additional 45 day assignments may be made if the LEA believes that returning the student to the original placement is substantially likely to result in injury to the student or to others.

Whenever a hearing is requested, you, or the LEA involved in the dispute, shall have an opportunity for an impartial due process hearing consistent with the requirements under the Due Process Complaint and Dispute Resolution Procedures except as follows:

- 1. The LDOE or LEA shall arrange for the expedited due process hearing, which shall occur within 20 school days of the date the request for due process hearing is filed. The hearing officer shall make a determination within 10 school days after the hearing.
- 2. Unless you and the LEA agree in writing to waive the meeting, or agree to use mediation, a resolution meeting shall occur within seven (7) days of receiving the notice of the request for due process hearing. The due process hearing may proceed unless the matter has been resolved to the satisfaction of both parties within 15 days of receipt of the request for due process hearing.
- 3. The LDOE requires the exclusion of evidence not disclosed to the other party three (3) business days before the hearing, unless the parties agree otherwise.

Placement during Appeals

When an expedited hearing has been requested by either you or the LEA, the student shall remain in the interim alternative educational setting pending the decision of the hearing officer or until the expiration of the time period specified whichever occurs first, unless you and the LDOE or LEA agrees otherwise.

Protections for Children not yet Eligible for Special Education and Related Services

If a student has not been determined eligible for special education and related services and violates a code of student conduct, but the LEA had knowledge (as determined below) before the behavior that brought about the disciplinary action that the student was a student with a disability, then the student may assert any of the protections described in this notice.

Basis of Knowledge of Disciplinary Matters

The LEA must be deemed to have knowledge that a student is a student with a disability if, before the behavior that brought about the disciplinary action occurred:

- 1. You expressed concern in writing that your child is in need of special education and related services to supervisory or administrative personnel of the appropriate educational agency, or to the child's teacher;
- 2. You requested an evaluation related to eligibility for special education and related services under the IDEA; or
- 3. Your child's teacher or other LEA personnel expressed specific concerns about a pattern of behavior demonstrated by the child directly to the LEA's director of special education or to other supervisory personnel of the LEA.

Exception

The LEA would not be deemed to have such knowledge if:

- 1. You did not allow an evaluation of your child or refused special education services; or signed off on an official revocation of consent form; or
- 2. Your child has been evaluated and determined not to be a student with a disability under the IDEA.

Conditions that apply if there is No Basis of Knowledge

If prior to taking disciplinary measures against a student, the LEA does not have knowledge that the student is a student with a disability, the student may be subjected to the disciplinary measures that are applied to students without disabilities who engaged in comparable behaviors.

However, if a request is made for an evaluation of the student during the time period in which the student is subjected to disciplinary measures, the evaluation must be conducted in an expedited manner.

Until the evaluation is completed, the student remains in the educational placement determined by school authorities, which can include suspension or expulsion without educational services. If the student is determined to be a student with a disability, taking into consideration information from the evaluation conducted by the LEA and information provided by you, the LEA shall provide special education and related services in accordance with the IDEA.

Requirements for Unilateral Placement by Parents of Children in Private Schools at Public ExpenseGeneral Information

Parentally-placed private school students with disabilities mean students with disabilities enrolled by their parents in private schools, including religious schools or facilities that meet the definition of elementary and secondary school.

The IDEA does not require the LEA to pay for the cost of the education, including special education and related services, of a child with a disability at a private school or facility if the LEA made a FAPE available to the child and you choose to place the child in a private school or facility. However, the LEA where the private school is located must include the child in the population whose needs are addressed under the IDEA provisions regarding children who have been placed by their parents in a private school.

Reimbursement for Private School Placement

If your child previously received special education and related services under the authority of an LEA, and you choose to enroll your child in a private preschool, elementary school or secondary school without the consent of or referral by the LEA, a court or a hearing officer may require the LEA to reimburse you for the cost of that enrollment if the court or hearing officer finds that the LEA had not made a FAPE available to your child in a timely manner prior to that enrollment and that the private placement is appropriate. A parental placement may be found to be appropriate by a hearing officer or a court even if the placement does not meet the state standards that apply to education by the LEA and the LDOE.

Limitation of Reimbursement

The cost of reimbursement for private school placement may be reduced or denied if:

1. At the most recent IEP meeting that you attended prior to the removal of your child from the LEA, you did not inform the IEP team that you were rejecting the placement proposed by the LEA to provide a FAPE to your child, including stating your concerns and your intent to enroll your child in a private school at public expense; or

- 2. At least 10 business days (including any holidays that occur on a business day) prior to the removal of your child from the LEA, you did not give written notice to the LEA of the information; or
- 3. Prior to the removal of your child from the public school, the LEA informed you of its intent to evaluate your child, but you did not make your child available for such evaluation; or
- 4. Upon a court's finding that your actions were unreasonable.

However, the cost of reimbursement:

- 1. Shall not be reduced or denied for failure to provide such notice if:
 - a. The LEA prevented you from providing the notice;
 - b. You had not received notice of your responsibility to provide the notice described above; and
 - c. Compliance with the requirements above would result in physical harm to your child.
- 2. May, in the discretion of the court or a hearing officer, not be reduced or denied for your failure to provide the required notice if:
 - a. You are not literate or cannot write in English; or
 - b. Compliance with the above requirement would likely result in serious emotional harm your child.

Louisiana Department of Education Dispute Resolution Comparison Chart

Questions	IEP Facilitation	Mediation	Informal Complaint/ERP	Formal Complaint	Due Process Hearing
Who can initiate the process?	Parent or LEA or Public Agency, but must be voluntary for both	Parent or LEA or Public Agency, but must be voluntary for both	Parent or LEA or Public Agency, but must be voluntary for both	Any individual or organization, including those from out of state	Parent or local education agency or Public Agency
What is the time limit for filing?	None specified	None specified	One year of when the party knew or should have known of the problem	One year of when the party knew or should have known of the problem	One year from date of the alleged violation
What issues can be resolved?	The contents of an IEP	Same as due process complaint, including matters arising prior to the filing of a due process complaint	Alleged violations of IDEA and state and federal implementing regulations	Alleged violations of IDEA and state and federal implementing regulations	Any matter related to the identification, evaluation, or educational placement or provision of FAPE
What is the timeline for resolving the issues?	None specified	None specified	14 days from receipt of Informal complaint unless extension granted upon joint request of both parties	45 days from end of the ERP unless a specific extension is granted	45 days from the end of the resolution period unless specific extensions to the timeline are granted
Who resolves the issues?	IEP team (Decisions are made by consensus.) The neutral IEP facilitator does not participate in any way in decisions.	Parent and LEA or Public Agency with a mediator. The process is voluntary and both parties must agree to any resolution.	Parent and LEA or Public Agency by agreement. If not, parent may proceed directly to formal complaint or due process.	LDOE Complaint Investigator	Hearing Officer

Contact Information

Name/Title	Phone Number	Email
Notes		